Correlation of Electromyography and Muscle Biopsy in Myopathy of Young Age

Jihoon Chang

Department of Medicine

The Graduate School, Yonsei University

Correlation of Electromyography and

Muscle Biopsy

in Myopathy of Young Age

Directed by Professor Yoon Ghil Park

The Master's Thesis submitted to the Department of Medicine, the Graduate School of Yonsei University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Medical Science

Jihoon Chang

June 2010

This certifies that the Master's Thesis of Jihoon Chang is approved.

Thesis Supervisor : Yoon Ghil Park

Young-chul Choi

Young-ho Lee

The Graduate School Yonsei University

June 2010

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First and foremost I offer my sincerest gratitude to my supervisor, Dr. Yoon Ghil Park, whose encouragement, guidance and support from the initial to the final level enabled me to develop an understanding of the subject. I attribute the level of my Master's degree to his encouragement and effort and without him this thesis, too, would not have been completed or written.

I gratefully acknowledge professor Young-Chul Choi & professor Young-ho Lee for their advices, supervisions, and crucial contributions, which made them a backbone of this research and so to this thesis. It is a pleasure to pay tribute also to professor Jae Ho Moon, Jung Hwa Choi, and collaborators.

Finally, I thank my parents for supporting me throughout all my studies.

Jihoon Chang

<TABLE OF CONTENTS>

ABSTRACT ······ 1
I. INTRODUCTION ······2
II. MATERIALS AND METHODS ······ 4
1. Subjects ······ 4
2. Electromyography
3. Muscle biopsy
4. Statistical analysis ······8
III. RESULTS
IV. DISCUSSION
V. CONCLUSION
REFERENCES 18
ABSTRACT(IN KOREAN) ······ 20

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. The figures are typical findings of the conventional
needle EMG in neurogenic, normal and myogenic disease $^{\cdot\cdot}7$
Figure 2. Age histogram of the recruited patients9
Figure 3. The figures are clouds of neurogenic, normal and
myogenic values of amplitude versus turns/sec in male biceps
brachii for turns/amplitude analysis13

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. (Clinical diagnosis of myopathic patients10
Table 2. 0	Comparison of electromyography and final diagnosis
•••••	
Table 3. (Comparison of conventional electromyography and
1	final diagnosis ······12
Table 4. (Comparison of quantitative electromyography and
f	final diagnosis13

ABSTRACT

Correlation of Electromyography and Muscle Biopsy in Myopapthy of Young Age

Jihoon Chang

Department of Medicine The Graduate School, Yonsei University

(Directed by Professor Yoon Ghil Park)

The this investigating of study the of purpose was accuracy electromyography(EMG) compared to muscle biopsy in young myopathic patients. Cases were included if the patient was 18 years and less, and the data of muscle biopsy, EMG, and final clinical diagnosis were available. EMG results were classified into 3 groups: myopathic, neurogenic, and nonspecific group. 62 patients were identified using both EMG and biopsy. EMG showed myopathic findings in 55, and microscopy revealed myopathy in 50 and nonspecific findings in 28 out of 33 showed myogenic EMG findings with a conventional EMG, and 5. the histology revealed myopathy in 24. In comparison, turns/amplitude analysis(TAA) with a conventional EMG detected myogenic findings in 27 of 29. 26 of these 27 showed myogenic findings in biopsy. We concluded that EMG is useful for the detection of myopathy in young patients. In addition, TAA may be effective when conventional EMG shows nonspecific findings.

Key words : myopathy; electromyography; muscle biopsy; neuromuscular disease; turns/amplitude analysis

Correlation of Electromyography and Muscle Biopsy in Myopapthy of Young Age

Jihoon Chang

Department of Medicine The Graduate School, Yonsei University

(Directed by Professor Yoon Ghil Park)

I. INTRODUCTION

Interviews, physical examinations, genetic tests, electrodiagnosis, and muscle tissue biopsies are all used to diagnose neuromuscular diseases. Confirmative diagnoses are typically made based on a combination of various test results. Muscle tissue biopsies have the disadvantage of invasive procedures, compared to genetic testing and electromyography(EMG). Genetic testing and muscle tissue biopsies cannot determine which muscles are affected and obtain information regarding the progression of the disease. Because of these drawbacks, electromyography is critical for the diagnosis of muscle diseases. Prior to muscle tissue biopsy, through evaluation of a motor unit, the degree and distribution of muscle disease can be examined.¹⁻³

The electro-diagnosis of muscle disease is typically difficult in young patients.

Special attention is required when diagnosing children due to the immaturity of the nervous system, technical errors due to the small size of the subjects, an insufficiency of reference data regarding pediatric cases, and poor cooperation muscle relaxation and gradual contraction.⁴ The concordance rate between the electrodiagnostic results and the final diagnosis is generally low in young patients. Accuracy is also lower in children who have muscular diseases compared with those who have neurological disorders.⁵ In previous studies of evaluating floppy infants, the concomitant use of needle EMG with neuromuscular conduction tests was helpful for differentiating a central nervous system abnormality from a peripheral nervous system abnormality. It was also useful for ruling out the possibility of neurogenic disorder.⁶ The primary use of electrodiagnosis would be helpful in pediatric patients who are suspected to have neuromuscular disease or floppy infant syndrome.

Interference pattern analysis is helpful for diagnosis of myopathy. But in patients who cannot be collaborated easily such as children in contracting muscle of minimal degrees, we hardly can not acquire enough data for analysis of interference pattern. Quantitative analysis of the interference pattern based on needle EMG is used as the diagnostic method for neuromuscular disease because it can be easily performed in patients who are not well collaborated when compared with a conventional analysis of the motor unit action potential.⁷ TAA reflects the motor units which are induced in an entire range of force.⁸ It is useful for assessing muscle activity, muscle fatigue, chronic myalgia, and abnormal muscle contractions after

botulinum toxin injections. Errors between the tester and the laboratory can be minimized, and differences in results based on disease evolution in the same patient can also be determined with TAA.⁷⁻⁸ TAA has been reported useful in diagnosis of various myopathy.⁹⁻¹⁰ In this study, data from young patients who underwent both muscle tissue biopsy and electrodiagnostic testing were analyzed in order to determine the accuracy and usefulness of electrodiagnostic tests. By comparing conventional and quantitative EMG, we were able to assess the accuracy of TAA and whether or not it was useful for making a diagnosis.

II. MATERIALS AND METHODS

1. Subjects

During the period ranging from 2002 to 2009, 62 young patients (ages were 18 years and less) who were suspicious of myopathy and underwent muscle tissue biopsy and electromyography at Gangnam Severance Hospital, Seoul, Korea. The patients who were found to have neurogenic disorder, musucular dystrophy, and inflammatory myositis were enrolled in this study. Only subjects with normal nerve conduction studies were included, and the needle EMG was necessity for diagnosis.

2. Electromyography

EMG were performed for all patients with suspected myopathy before muscle biopsy. All tests of EMG were performed by a single physician who was not aware of the final diagnosis under the supervision of physicians who have more than ten years of experience conducting EMG and are members of American Board of Electrodiagnostic Medicine. The EMG equipment that was used for the evaluation of all enrolled patients was made by Synergy (Oxford Medelec, Wiesbaden, Germany).

Nerve conduction studies included two sensory and two motor in upper extremities and one sensory and one motor in lower extremities at least. Amplitude, latency and conduction velocity of the compound muscle action potentials and sensory nerve action potentials were recorded. These were compared to standard table of reference values in our EMG laboratory. The subjects had the nerve conduction parameters within normal range.

Monopolar needle (TECA Corp., Pleasantville, NY, USA) electormyography was performed in one or two muscles in each upper and lower extremity, selecting preferentially those with mild to moderate clinical weakness. When turns/amplitude analysis is performed, the concept of a cloud is used.¹¹

The patterns of muscle contractions in the biceps brachii and tibialis anterior were observed and analyzed for the quantitative analysis of the interference pattern. The range of the filtering frequency was set at 10 Hz for the low frequency filter and 10 KHz for the high frequency filter. The sweep duration was 500 msec. The patterns of muscle contractions in the biceps brachii and tibialis anterior were observed and analyzed for the quantitative analysis of the interference pattern. The muscle contraction was increased gradually in a stepwise manner and the induced interference pattern was obtained. The interference pattern was obtained at least 20 times in each muscle. The resting period was set at several seconds in order to reduce fatigue between contractions.¹² In order to vary the location of the needle and prevent overlapping interference, we progressed EMG needle anterior to posterior or left to right at a minimal displacement of more than 5 mm. The tests were performed at three to five sites per muscle.¹³

The turns per second versus the mean amplitude are plotted during three to five steps of gradual muscle contraction on multiple sites of a tested muscle.

Based on the EMG, the patients were divided into three groups: the myopathy group, the neurogenic disorder group, and the non-specific group. Myopathy was defined as the presence of abnormal spontaneous activity at rest. The typical findings of the conventional needle EMG are shown(Fig. 1).

EMG findings of myopathy were typically characterized by a low amplitude and polyphasic motor unit potential with a short duration, and the occurrence of complete recruitment following a low to moderate degree of effort. A disorder of myopathic origin on TAA was defined as more than 10% of the plots of the turns per second versus the mean amplitude being downward from the reference cloud after more than 20 plots.¹¹ A neurogenic disorder was defined as the presence of abnormal spontaneous potentials during the resting phase. High amplitude

polyphasic motor unit potentials with a long duration were typically present. A disorder of neuropathic origin on TAA was defined as more than 10% of the plots of the turns per second versus the mean amplitude being upward from the reference cloud after more than 20 plots. Non-specific cases were defined as having normal EMG findings, radiculopathy findings, and cases where a definite diagnosis was impossible. In order to establish reference values for the cloud, we used methods described by Stålberg et al. We measured the conversion point, amplitude, activity, limit frequency, and the number of phases. The tests were performed on the biceps brachii and tibialis anterior of normal healthy people at our EMG laboratory.¹⁴



Figure 1. The figures are typical findings of the conventional needle EMG in neurogenic (A), normal (B) and myogenic disease(C). Sweep speed was 100ms and gain was 10µv/div.

Furthermore, in order to examine the accuracy of an additional TAA, a comparison was made between a conventional EMG(needle EMG with nerve conduction study) and a TAA(turns/amplitude analysis with conventional EMG). A conventional EMG was defined as a needle EMG with a nerve conduction study but no additional TAA.

3. Muscle biopsy

Open muscle biopsies were performed from vastus lateralis by an orthopedic surgeon at Gangnam Severance Hospital. The muscle biopsy samples were interpreted by 2 pathologists and a neurologist. The results were then classified into three groups; the myopathy group, the neurogenic disorder group, and the non-specific group. Muslce specimens were stained with hematoxylin-eosin, periodic acid-Schiff, trichrome, reduced form of nicotinamide-adenine dinucleotide, adenosine triphosphatases(pH 9.4, 4.6, 4.2).

4. Statistical analysis

A statistical analysis of the data was performed using SPSS 12.0 for Windows. A Fisher's exact test was used to verify that there were the differences of the specificity and sensitivity, depending on the difference of the test methods between the two groups.

III. RESULTS

A muscle tissue biopsy and an EMG were performed in a total of 62 patients. These patients included 15 females and 47 males and their ages ranged from 1 month to 18 years(Fig. 2). The final diagnosis of enrollred patients were Duchenne muscular dystrophy, Becker muscular dystrophy, congenital myopathy, dermatomyositis and so(Table 1). All nerve conduction velocities of 62 patients were within normal range which were adjusted to their ages.



Figure 2. Age histogram of the recruited patients.

Table 1. Final diagnosis of myopathic pa	atients.
Duchenne muscular dystrophy	27
Becker muscular dystrophy	1
Congenital myopathy	9
Limb girdle muscular dystrophy	6
Dermatomyositis	4
Unspecified	4
Totals of myopathic patients	51

55 of the 62 patients who underwent EMG had findings suggestive of myopathy. Two patients had findings suggestive of neurogenic disorder. Five patients did not have findings of either myopathy or neurogenic disorder (Table 2).

		Final diagnosis			
Electromyography	Totals	Myopathy	Neuropathy	Nonspecific	
Myogenic disorder	55	50	0	5	
Neurogenic disorder	2	0	2	0	
Nonspecific	5	1	1	3	

Table 2. Comparison of electromyography and final diagnosis.

50 of the 55 patients who had findings suggestive of myopathy on EMG were diagnosed with myopathy based on a muscle tissue biopsy. There were no notable findings on a tissue biopsy in the other five patients.

One of the five patients who had no notable findings on the EMG was diagnosed with myopathy based on a tissue biopsy. One was diagnosed with neurogenic disorder, and three had non-specific findings on a tissue biopsy.

27 of the 51 patients who were diagnosed with a myopathy were found to have Duchenne's muscular dystrophy. One had Becker's muscular dystrophy. Nine had a congenital muscular dystrophy. Four had dermatomyositis. Six had limb-girdle muscular dystrophy. Four patients had an unidentified muscle disease. There were three patients with a neurogenic disorder, and eight patients with non-specific findings based on the muscle tissue biopsies.

The sensitivity and specificity of EMG in the diagnosis of muscle disease were found to be 98.0% (95% (CI): 89.5-99.9%) and 54.5% (95% CI: 23.3-83.2%). A total of 33 patients underwent only a conventional EMG. Conventional EMG included neelde EMG. Based on those EMG, 28 patients had a myopathy, one had a neurogenic disorder, and four had non-specific findings (Table 3). 24 of the 28 patients who had a myopathy on a conventional EMG were diagnosed with a myopathy based on a tissue biopsy. However, four had no abnormal findings on a tissue biopsy. When a conventional EMG was used to diagnose a myogenic disorder, the sensitivity was 96% (95% CI: 79.6-99.9%) and specificity was 50% (95% CI: 15.7-84.3%).

Table 3. Comparison of conventional electromyography and final diagnosis.				
		Final diagnosis		
Classical electromyography	Totals	Myopathy	Neuropathy	Nonspecific
Myogenic disorder	28	24	0	4
Neurogenic disorder	1	0	1	0
Nonspecific	4	1	1	2

A total of 29 patients were given an additional TAA. The results of TAA were marked with cloud(Fig. 3). 27 were found to have a myopathy. One had neurogenic disorder, and one had non-specific findings (Table 4). 26 of the 27 patients with a myopathy were diagnosed with the myopathy based on a tissue biopsy. One had no abnormal findings on a tissue biopsy. In the patients who had an additional TAA to diagnose a muscle disease, the sensitivity was 100% (95% CI: 86.7-100.0%) and the specificity was 66.7% (95% CI: 0.8-90.5%). There were no significant differences in the sensitivity(p-value=0.49) and specificity(p-value=1) between the conventional EMG and TAA groups.



Figure 3. The figures are clouds of neurogenic(A), normal(B) and myogenic values(C) of amplitude versus turns/sec in male biceps brachii for turns/amplitude analysis.

Table 4. Comparison of turns/apmlitude analysis and final diagnosis.				
		Final diagnosis		
Quantitative electromyography	Totals	Myopathy	Neuropathy	Nonspecific
Myogenic disorder	27	26	0	1
Neurogenic disorder	1	0	1	0
Nonspecific	1	0	0	1

In regards to the TAA, there were four patients in whose conventional EMG we could not find any abnormal spontaneous activities even in muscle resting phase, and the age of these children are 49, 61, 65, 113 in months. In these patients, through TAA myopathic findings in turns-amplitude were revealed through TAA. Based on the tissue biopsies and clinical manifestations, four patients were diagnosed with a myopathy. Three of these patients were diagnosed with a Duchenne muscular dystrophy, and one was diagnosed with a limb-girdle muscular dystrophy. And a child with myopathic findings of conventional EMG was diagnosed as normal after TAA. This child age was 151 in months, and conventional EMG showed some polyphasic short amplitude motor units and a few denervation potentials. But additional TAA and muscle biopsy result were normal.

IV. DISCUSSION

In this study, EMG and muscle biopsy were performed in young patients who were clinically suspected to have a muscle disease. A comparison was made between cases in which a TAA was performed and it was not for examining whether the diagnostic rate for muscle diseases would rise if a TAA was performed. In patients with a myopathy, there was a tendency for the diagnosis to be more accurate when a TAA was performed.

In this study there were seven patients in whom there was a discrepancy between

the EMG findings and the results of a tissue biopsy. Two of these patients had nonspecific EMG findings. One was ultimately diagnosed with a congenital myopathy based on a muscle biopsy. Another was diagnosed with neurogenic disorder. Five patients who had findings suggestive of a myopathy on an EMG shows nonspecific biopsy findings.

The mean age of the patient group in which the EMG findings and the results of a tissue biopsy were congruent was 87 months and the median was 74 months. In seven patients in whom there was no consistency between the EMG findings and the results of a tissue biopsy, the mean age was 118 months (37-167 months). There was no significant difference in the mean age between the two groups. Due to the technical difficulties of performing an EMG in young patients, it was expected that the mean age would be lower in the group where there was no consistency between the EMG findings and the results of a muscle biopsy. However, in this study there was no significant difference in this series. This may be because the results originated from a smaller number of enrolled patients.

An analysis of the interference pattern based on the TAA reflects the motor unit which was induced by all degree of the forces. This means that we were able to record signals formed by the involvement of action potentials of all types of motor units. Patient compliance is a relatively less important factor for TAA than for traditional interference pattern analysis. Signals can be obtained faster, and the data can also be processed faster. This can be helpful for young patients in whom there was insufficient extent of collaboration and in whom a small magnitude of force could not be induced. The electrical activity of a muscle contraction should be analyzed while the subject is contracting the muscle. This is especially important in patients who have impaired cognition or paralysis and show poor compliance during an EMG, or those who were unable to exhibit gradual muscle contractions. There are limitations in the classical analysis of the motor unit and interference patterns.¹⁴

In this study, TAA was decisive for 5 patients. In 4 patients in whom we could not conlude myopathy with conventional EMG, TAA showed myopathic findings. And TAA helped us to conclude normal in 1 patient. In 2 patients of previous 4, low collaboration made the analysis of the motor unit difficult. In the other two patients of previous 4, abnormal EMG findings could not be detected when we used a conventional EMG alone. Following the additional use of a TAA, the results of an EMG analysis corresponding to a myopathy could be obtained.

V. CONCLUSION

In this study, there was more consistency between the EMG findings and a muscle tissue biopsy when making the diagnosis of a myopathy compared to previous report.^{5,15} In Korea, there were no previous studies that compared EMG findings and tissue biopsies

An EMG is a test that is expected to accurately diagnose muscle disease. However, successful administration of EMG tests requires patient cooperation. A TAA could

be helpful for making a diagnosis of a muscle disease in pediatric patients whose cooperation is poor.

REFERENCES

- Buchthal F. Electromyography in the evaluation of muscle diseases. Neurologic clinics 1985;3:573-98.
- Dumitru D, Amato AA. Introduction to myopathies and muscle tissue's reaction to injury. In: Dumitru D, Amato AA, Zwarts MJ, editors. Electrodiagnostic Medicine, 2nd ed. Philadelphia: Hanley & Belfus; 2002. p 1229-64.
- Wilbourn AJ. The electrodiagnostic examination with myopathies. Journal of clinical neurophysiology 1993;10:132-48.
- 4. Kerman K, Shahani B. Pediatric electromyography. Indian journal of pediatrics 1990;57:469-79.
- Rabie M, Jossiphov J, Nevo Y. Electromyography (EMG) accuracy compared to muscle biopsy in childhood. Journal of child neurology 2007;22:803-8.
- Darras BT, Jones HR. Diagnosis of pediatric neuromuscular disorders in the era of DNA analysis. Pediatric neurology 2000;23:289-300.
- Ryu HH, Park YG, Moon JH, Ryu JS, Lee YJ. Comparison of interference pattern between normal and myopathy group used by quantitative EMG. J Korean EMG Eletrodiag 2007;3:13-9.
- Fuglsang-Frederiksen A. The utility of interference pattern analysis. Muscle Nerve 2000;23:18-36.

- Fuglsang-Frederiksen A. The role of different EMG methods in evaluating myopathy. Clin Neurophysiol 2006;117:1173-89.
- Puvanendran K, Cheah JS, Naganathan N, Wong PK. Thyrotoxic myopathy: a clinical and quantitative analytic electromyographic study. J Neurol Sci 1979;42:441-51.
- Stalberg E, Chu J, Bril V, Nandedkar S, Stalberg S, Ericsson M. Automatic analysis of the EMG interference pattern. Electroencephalography and clinical neurophysiology 1983;56:672-81.
- Garcia HA, Milner-Brown HS, Fisher MA. "Turns" analysis in the physiological evaluation of neuromuscular disorders. Journal of neurology, neurosurgery, and psychiatry 1980;43:1091-7.
- Nirkko AC, Rosler KM, Hess CW. Sensitivity and specificity of needle electromyography: a prospective study comparing automated interference pattern analysis with single motor unit potential analysis. Electroencephalography and clinical neurophysiology 1995;97:1-10.
- Park KD, Lee SC, Park YG, Moon JH. Analysis of Interference Pattern of Quantitative Electromyography in Early Adolescence. J Korean Acad Rehab Med 2007;31:333-40.
- 15. Blijham PJ, Hengstman GJ, Ter Laak HJ, Van Engelen BG, Zwarts MJ. Muscle-fiber conduction velocity and electromyography as diagnostic tools in patients with suspected inflammatory myopathy: a prospective study. Muscle Nerve 2004;29:46-50.

ABSTRACT(IN KOREAN)

유아청소년 근육병 환자에서

근전도 검사와 근육 생검 간의 정확도 비교

<지도교수 박 윤 길>

연세대학교 대학원 의학과

장 지 훈

근육병 환자의 진단에 근전도가 많이 사용되고 있다. 본 연구는 특히 젊 은 근육병 환자의 진단에서 근전도가 근육생검과 비교 시 얼마나 정확한 지를 알아보고자 하였다. 18세 이하의 화자들을 대상으로 후향적 연구를 하였고, 근전도, 근육생검, 임상적 진단의 기록이 있는 환자들을 대상으 로 하였다. 근전도 결과에 따라 근육성군, 신경성군, 비특이적군의 세 군으로 분류하였다. 62명 환자들의 근전도와 근육생검 결과를 확인하였 다. 근전도 검사에서 근육성인 경우가 55명에서 확인되었고, 이 중 50명 의 근육생검 상 근육병성 소견을 보였고, 5명의 근육생검 결과는 비특이 적이었다. 고식적 근전도만을 시행하였을 경우 33명 중 28명에서 근육성 소견을 보였고, 이 중 24명의 근육생검 결과가 근육성인 것으로 보고되 었다. 반면 정량적 근전도를 추가로 시행한 33명에서는 27명이 근육성 근전도 소견을 보였고, 이 중 26명의 근육생검 결과가 근육성으로 보고 되었다. 이 번 연구에서 젊은 근육병의증 환자의 진단 시에 근전도 검사 가 도움이 되는 것을 확인할 수 있었고, 고식적 근전도에서 확실한 결과 를 얻을 수 없는 경우에는 정량적 근전도를 추가로 시행하는 것이 효과 적인 것을 알 수 있었다.

핵심되는 말 : 근육병, 근전도, 근육생검, 신경근육계질환, 정량적근전 도

20